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The Bishop’s Chapel of Hereford Cathedral and the Question
of Architectural Copies in the Middle Ages

HANS J. BOKER
McGill University

Abstract

The Bishop’s Chapel at Hereford is considered an
important key to the understanding of architectural iconol-
ogy in the middle ages since it is reported to have been
built in imitation of the Palatine Chapel of Charlemagne
at Aachen. At the same time it is linked typologically to
a larger number of double-storied chapels on the conti-
nent, especially within the Holy Roman Empire, for none
of which a similar intent of copying Aachen is recorded.
The result of this contradiction was the emergence of an
art historical idea that copying in the middle ages was not
something to be taken literally. This paper argues that
the identification of the Hereford chapel with the chapel
that was meant to be a copy of Aachen rests rather on a
confusion, and that this particular chapel and its conti-
nental counterparts follow a distinct tradition with decid-
edly Byzantine connotations.

The remnants of the small chapel at Hereford Cathedral
that is generally known as the Bishop’s Chapel present one of
the most puzzling problems in English Romanesque architec-
ture. This results not from the lack of information surviving
from the time of its construction, but rather from the ex-
plicitness with which a contemporary source imposes an in-
terpretation that seems difficult to reconcile with the visual
appearance of the building. The source in question is the
Chronicle of William of Malmesbury, which records that
Bishop Rutbertus de Lozinga, i.e., from Lotharingia (1079-
1095), had built “a church of a round scheme that was to
copy the basilica in Aachen.”! Although some authors have
tried to relate this passage to the rebuilding of the cathedral
itself,? the church in question is commonly identified with the
square two-storied chapel dedicated to St. Mary Magdalene
and St. Catharine. The chapel, demolished in 1737 and re-
corded only by architectural drawings (Figs. 1-3), was situ-
ated north of the episcopal palace and attached to the southern
range of the cloister; because the chapel was integrated into
the enclosing wall of the cloister its northern elevation has
there survived.? The obvious difficulty of reconciling the al-
lusion to a round church in the text with the square monu-
ment is usually circumvented by translating the term feretum
(“round” or “turned around”) in a somewhat forced way as
“centrally planned,” or even as “in an elegant form.” Also, the
term ecclesia that is used to describe Bishop Rutbertus’s edi-
fice seems to stand in contradiction to the status of the build-
ing as a chapel, for which the term capella is consistently
used in medieval sources.
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Further, the identification of the recorded edifice with
the one described in the textual source created some major
methodological problems with regard to the medieval attitude
towards copying well known models, and thus of the meaning
of architectural forms in the middle ages in general. In his
seminal article on the “iconography of medieval architecture,”
Richard Krautheimer discussed the Bishop’s Chapel at Here-
ford together with the church of Germigny-des-Pres, another
monument reported to have been modeled after Aachen in
Carolingian times. He conceded

that it is hard for a modern beholder to see anything
comparable in them. The chapel of Aix with its domical-
vaulted octagonal center room surrounded by a sixteen-
sided ambulatory and by galleries, seems quite different
from the square church of Germigny with its open central
tower, its barrel-vaulted cross arms and its domed corner
bays; nor does it seem to resemble the square double-
storied chapel at Hereford in which of the nine bays the
middle one is open in order to connect the two stories and
the remaining eight are covered with groin vaults. One
might at first be inclined to say that these statements are
based simply on mistakes.*

Nor can this obvious lack of correspondence between the
presumptive Carolingian model and its Romanesque recep-
tion be simply explained away by allowing for the specific
character of a medieval copy. In his discussion of Germigny-
des-Pres and its supposed connection to Aachen, Bandmann
averred that a medieval copy

never completely replicates the original, but rather only
the most important symbolic figures applied to the mea-
sure of different parts of a building, and some copied parts
suffice to ensure identity of significance. The more incom-
patible the form of the prototype, the more distant the ar-
tistic environment from which it derives, the less should
one expect a total copy.’

The assumption, apparently based on written evidence,
that both Germigny-des-Prés and Hereford were intended to
represent true copies of the Palatine Chapel at Aachen has
thoroughly influenced our understanding of the character of
copying in the middle ages. Here we meet the fundamental
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questions to what degree the copy of a known monument had
to be recognizable as a copy, at least to an informed contem-
porary visitor, and what degree of freedom was permitted in
redesigning the type to the detriment of the recognizability
of the model. If we consider other cases of copying, for
example the reception of Old St. Peters, the repetition of dis-
tinctive features like the double aisles flanking the nave and
the transept “more Romano™® seems to have been a prerequi-
site for establishing a relationship between the model and its
copy. Thus comparing the two examples, i.e., Hereford and
Germigny-des-Pres, used by Krautheimer and Bandmann to
support their concept with other documented instances of
buildings that copied a prototype, one is tempted either to dis-
miss the sources that claim a relationship between these two
chapels and their supposed model as expressions of literary
freedom, or to assume that the documents relate to different
monuments than the two either extant or in question.

This is especially true if we consider the known recep-
tion of Aachen in medieval architecture. Literal and fairly
precise copies of the Aachen chapel existed, especially in the
eleventh century, all of them displaying as the major ele-
ments of reference the characteristic motif of columns placed
within the arched openings.” Thus we cannot but be struck by
the fact that the building at Hereford lacks any such refer-
ential feature. In consequence, some scholars have been re-
served or critical toward the source that identified Aachen as
the model for Hereford,? for example, Nikolaus Pevsner, who
admitted that the reference to Aachen “has to be taken with
more than one pinch of salt.”® Germain Sieffert postulates that
the chapel at Hereford, although “inspired by Aachen, but not
an imitation of this building, . . . cannot be considered a true
copy.”!® The question is of more general importance because
an entire continental group of chapels, for which no medi-
eval source whatsoever suggested any symbolic connection to
Charlemagne’s palace chapel at Aachen, has been connected to
this prototype on the sole evidence of the chapel at Hereford
and the documentary evidence purportedly pertaining to it.!!

The system of iconographical interpretation of medieval
architecture developed by Krautheimer and Bandmann has
since undergone a major revision which, instead of viewing
the monument as the concretization of an abstract theologi-
cal concept, stresses the “dialectic relationship between model
and ‘quoted’ forms” and “sees the quoted form as an Abbild,
but only of other buildings, not of heaven, and interprets
those quotations in terms of political meaning and rivalries,
not philosophical systems.”!? Even though this demand for a
concrete rather than an abstract model seems to be met by
linking the Hereford chapel to Aachen, the question still re-
mains regarding the extent to which the English chapel dis-
played elements that could be understood as alluding to this
specific Carolingian model. If such a reference did not exist
merely as a symbolic meaning hidden behind the artistic sur-
face of a monument, but was expected to be read and under-
stood by a clearly defined group of recipients, it must be
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FIGURE 1. Hereford Cathedral, Bishop’s Chapel, groundplans of both sto-
ries, drawing by William Stukeley, Oxford, Bodleian Library MS top. gen.
d. 13 (photo: Bodleian Library, by permission).

asked what associations could have been made by the con-
temporary viewers for whom the chapel was designed when
they visited it.

Even a cursory glance reveals immediately the fun-
damental differences between the buildings at Aachen and
Hereford. With its central octagon surrounded on different
levels by galleries that are screened by columns and arcades
and form a double-shell structure, Aachen represents a com-
plex spatial system which is based to a large extent on Byz-
antine prototypes.!? In contrast, the chapel at Hereford, with
its superposition of two separate spaces and the vaulting orig-
inally pierced in the central bay, represents an entirely dif-
ferent architectural concept. Although it has been argued that
this octagonal opening in the central bay was meant to be
reminiscent of the central octagon at Aachen, no indisputably
characteristic feature of Aachen, such as the galleries sur-
rounding the octagonal central space or the motif of columns
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FIGURE 2. Hereford Cathedral, Bishop’s Chapel, interior view of upper chapel, drawing by William Stukeley, Oxford,
Bodleian Library MS top. gen. d. 13 (photo: Bodleian Library, by permission,).
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FIGURE 3. Hereford Cathedral, Bishop’s Chapel, interior view of lower chapel, drawing by William Stukeley, Oxford,
Bodleian Library MS top. gen. d. 13 (photo: Bodleian Library, by permission).
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inserted into the arcades, is present at Hereford. Moreover, a
most crucial feature of the spatial disposition of Aachen is
missing: while in the Carolingian building the hierarchical ar-
rangement of spaces corresponded to a differentiation among
users, in the later chapel the narrowness of the central open-
ing would have afforded members of the congregation stand-
ing on the ground floor little view of any person sitting on
his throne on the second floor, be that person the bishop or a
visiting ruler. This central opening, moreover, did not work to
unite both spaces, but rather stressed their separateness. The
sole line of visual communication through the pierced vault
would have been between a person standing in the western
part of the upper chapel and the celebrant in front of the altar
in the lower one, and not between this first person and any
larger group of people on the ground floor, as has been as-
sumed by most scholars writing about this group of chapels.
The octagonal opening in the central bay is insufficiently spe-
cific to have been recognized by any medieval visitor to the
chapel as denoting reminiscence of Aachen.

Since the reference to Aachen was rendered problematic
by a lack of direct visual correspondence, alternative expla-
nations have been proposed, which are based primarily on the
arrangement of spaces over a square groundplan. This ap-
proach has led to the hypothesis that traces the entire group
of double-storied chapels, of which Hereford is one, to the
westwork of Carolingian and post-Carolingian times.!* The
covering of the lower story with groin vaults over four col-
umns or round pillars seems to reflect the entrance arrange-
ment at Corvey, while the elevated central upper space can
easily be taken as an allusion to Corvey’s tower-like upper
structure. The absence, however, of a larger central area sur-
rounded by galleries, which is a distinctive feature of all west-
works and which cannot be related to the central vertical axis
of the chapel, precludes this line of filiation. Furthermore,
while the westwork was principally a tower-like construction
attached to a major abbey church or cathedral that provided
a hierarchically differentiated inner structure reflecting the
organization of society and allowing the ruler from his priv-
ileged place to participate visibly in the service of the church,!’
the chapel at Hereford, located apart from the main church
and small in size, exhibits a strictly private character. This
applies equally to the other representatives of the type and
must lead us to assume a different function for all of them.

In a certain continuation of the westwork theory, and
only on the evidence of the vaulting system, with barrel vaults
in the central nave and buttressing quadrants in the aisles, and
the use of heavy round piers, Jean Bony has tried to connect
the Hereford chapel to the double-storied western annex of the
abbey church at Tournus in Burgundy.!¢ With its longitudinal
orientation, the presence of a clerestory and the absence of
a central tower, the avant-nef of Tournus is distinguished, as
Jacques Henriet has demonstrated, from the centrally planned
westwork and derives instead from the galilee preceding the
nave of the abbey church of Cluny II.'7 Since its basic fea-

tures and its primary function are thus different, the avant-nef
of Tournus cannot have served as a prototype for the isolated
and centrally planned chapel at Hereford, in which the central
bay continued as a lantern above the roof and thus created a
central vertical axis extending through the entire building.

The proposition, apparently supported by a written source,
that the Hereford chapel was to be a “copy” of Aachen or
of the Carolingian westwork has influenced the interpretation
of its separate features, such as the chapel’s western portal. On
the premise that “there seems to be little doubt that, in the
minds of contemporaries . . . the arched recess of the Here-
ford chapel was identified with the similar but taller, more
shallow and concave recess which is such a conspicuous fea-
ture of the Aachen westwerk,”'® McAleer considered the en-
trance arrangement, with its deeply recessed portal between
two newel stairs, “an extremely important monument in ex-
plaining the origin and significance of the fagade of Tewkes-
bury Abbey and perhaps others of the triumphal arch group”
in western England.'® Despite their obvious lack of resem-
blance, he related the facades to Aachen Minster, where a
huge niche with straight sides and a curved fond in the tower-
like western block forms the entrance. In contrast to this
apse-like arrangement that terminates the atrium at Aachen,
at Tewkesbury it is a monumentalized portal frame that now
encloses both the entrance and window above.

While the fagade design at Tewkesbury resembles, at
least in its monumentality if not in its architectural formula-
tion, the entrance situation at Aachen, it was more likely in-
spired by the bold monumental niches of Lincoln Cathedral
that date from before 1090,2° which with their apparent allu-
sion to defensive architecture would have provided a more
familiar point of reference in the West Country than the court
chapel at Aachen. The portal at Hereford, even though it
follows the portal-like arrangement of the Tewkesbury west
front, should not be included in this type of facade with mon-
umental entrance niches because the window above the en-
trance was left outside the framework of the portal. Confined
to the lower area of the facade and equipped with a multiple
order of columns and archivolts, the portal at Hereford rather
belongs among those many recessed portals that represent too
common a feature of Romanesque buildings to allow for any
association with the niche at Aachen. It is, therefore, in the
development of these Romanesque fagades, including that of
Hereford Cathedral itself, that we might search for an indi-
cation of the proper typological and chronological context
for the Hereford chapel.

Construction of the present Romanesque cathedral at
Hereford started much later than the recorded erection of the
chapel of Bishop Rutbertus de Lozinga, under Bishop Rein-
helm (1107-1115), and it was completed by Bishop Robert
de Bethune who was buried in his cathedral in 1148.2! It is to
this building of the first half of the twelfth century with its
round pillars and heavy arches that the architectural forms
of the small chapel conform stylistically. Accordingly, a
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construction period following the completion of the cathedral,
or at least contemporary with it, might be preferred. The ac-
cepted date in the last quarter of the eleventh century can be
securely excluded when one takes the portal into consider-
ation. Its heavily moulded recesses are not consistent with a
date preceding 1100 and the beginning of construction of the
Romanesque cathedral.?? The destroyed western fagade of the
latter presented the same arrangement, with a deeply recessed
portal, likewise with five steps in jambs and archivolts, be-
tween turrets.?? Like the one at Tewkesbury with its monu-
mental niche, this facade dates certainly not earlier than 1140.

Other features that seem to point to an early twelfth-
century date are the round piers of the upper story, which do
not exhibit any sophisticated detailing and from which the
arches emerge, just below the capital, without a clear articu-
lation. One is reminded of the heavy pillars of Tewkesbury
Abbey, begun after 1087, with their band-like capitals, rather
than Gloucester Abbey and Hereford Cathedral, where a more
sculptural approach was taken. The emergence of an arch from
the round pier, found on a large scale in the easternmost bay
of the nave of Romsey Abbey, also has been reconstructed in
the choir of Tewkesbury Abbey. The barrel vault over heavy
round pillars in the Hereford chapel finds a parallel in the
choir and transepts of Tewkesbury Abbey where a similar
arrangement has been reconstructed.?* The same type of quad-
rant vaults, a common feature of English Romanesque archi-
tecture around 1100, appears further in the galleries of the
choir of Gloucester Abbey, commenced in 1089, and can there-
fore be regarded as a well established feature in the architec-
ture of the region.

The simplicity of the architectural forms and the heavi-
ness of the pillars and vaults were the main reasons for relat-
ing the Hereford chapel to the late-eleventh-century style of
Tewkesbury, which stands in marked contrast to the develop-
ment after 1100 towards increased richness of architectural
details. This model of a linear stylistic development, how-
ever, does not take into consideration the dialectic reaction
to the richly decorated Norman Romanesque that can be ob-
served in the mid-twelfth century. In discussing the fagades
of Southwell Minster and Worksop Priory, McAleer, for ex-
ample, noted an “unexpected reassertion of a certain simplic-
ity, even bareness, involving an apparent rejection of most
ornamentation.”? The most prominent representatives of this
renewed inclination towards severity that seems to reflect
the political conflicts of the mid-century?® are, of course, the
churches of the Cistercian order in northern England, begin-
ning with Fountains Abbey in 1135.7

A date of the mid-twelfth century for the Bishop’s Chapel
seems to find support in documentary evidence. At the close
of the twelfth century, Bishop William de Verre confirmed by
charter a sequence of donations made by his predecessors
to the chapel of St. Mary Magdalene, the lower of the two
chapels in the building.?® The list is headed by Bishop Gilbert
Foliot (1148-1163), who gave the most substantial contribu-
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tion, and who might therefore have been responsible for its
foundation or at least for its completion. A second bishop of
the same family, Robert Foliot, is listed in this document as
having equally contributed to this chapel, and in 1232/33 it
was Bishop Hugh Foliot who granted a rent of five marks to
St. Catherine, the upper of the two chapels.?® With three bish-
ops of Hereford from the same feudal family contributing to
the endowment of the chapel, the building gradually acquired
the character of a family foundation connected to the episco-
pal palace, the construction of which around 1180-1190 is
ascribed to either Robert Foliot or William de Verre.*® It is
precisely the first of these bishops—Gilbert Foliot, a promi-
nent member of the royal court of Henry II-—who might have
been, as will be shown, the person who introduced this build-
ing type, meaningful in terms of an imperial iconography,
into English architecture.

As the chapel at Hereford seems to date to the mid-
twelfth rather than the late eleventh century, we can conclude
that the circular church erected by Rutbertus de Lozinga be-
fore 1095 must have been a different edifice altogether. Since
no clear identification is made in the source, it could equally
well refer to a hitherto unknown centralized church indepen-
dent of the cathedral, or to one attached to the previous, pre-
Conquest building. One possibility is that it was positioned
immediately east of the cathedral, incorporated into its sub-
sequent Romanesque rebuilding and finally destroyed around
1200 to make way for the present early Gothic Lady Chapel.
The unusual termination of the Romanesque choir, which
gave access through a portal-like opening to an adjoining
space of unknown form, seems to have been designed to
accommodate such a chapel. Nothing of this sort is known
through archaeological evidence,’' but the chapel might be
speculatively reconstructed as an axial rotunda east of the choir
like the one excavated in St. Peter at Louvain in Belgium,
whose inner octagon clearly follows the model of Aachen.*
The situation would also resemble that of St. Augustine’s
Abbey at Canterbury, where Abbot Wulfric II had started in
1049 to replace the apse of the church by a centralized build-
ing with an inner circle of eight pillars, in a clear reference
to either Aachen or Saint-Benigne in Dijon. Another more
likely solution, however, would be to link Bishop Rutber-
tus’s chapel to the foundations of the circular edifice 38 feet
in diameter that was uncovered in 1927 under the hospital
chapel of St. Giles at Hereford.** In any case, the generally
accepted identification of the chapel known from the chron-
icle, for which neither patron saint nor location is given, with
the surviving remains of the Bishop’s Chapel is question-
able, and evidence rather points towards a different, unknown
building.

If there were two different chapels at Hereford, one fol-
lowing the prototype of Aachen, and one belonging to the
widespread group of double-storied chapels, the situation
would have resembled that of Goslar, the favored residence
of Emperor Henry II and all subsequent rulers of the Salian
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FIGURE 4. Goslar, palatine complex, Our Lady’s Chapel, groundplan
(Ginette Gauvin and Hans J. Boker).

dynasty, where a similar ensemble with two chapels—one
square and one octagonal—existed.3* The surviving imperial
palace, built in 1034-1038 under Conrad II, contained at its
southern end an earlier palace chapel dedicated to Our Lady
and known from archaeological evidence (Fig. 4).3° A square
groundplan with foundations for four columns and proof for
the existence of a second story clearly mark this building as
another example of the same group of two-storied chapels,
here linked at right angles to an imperial palace.

For the interpretation of this chapel it is important to
know that the palatine complex at Goslar still preserves an-
other chapel at its northern end, and thus opposite Our Lady’s
chapel. This chapel, now heavily restored, belonged to the
second residential wing built under Henry V in the early
twelfth century (Figs. 5 and 6);%¢ it was dedicated to St. Ulric
(+ 973), bishop of Augsburg and, in his day, a prominent
member of the imperial church system. Once again Aachen
has been claimed as the prototype of this centrally planned
edifice, although a number of decidedly Byzantine features
have not gone unnoticed.’” For example, the ground floor
shows a cruciform plan with barrel-vaulted cross arms and
shallow niches carved into the substance of the wall, such as
one finds often in middle Byzantine architecture. In its pres-
ent form the octagonal upper story is—as indicated by differ-
ences in its system of wall articulation—possibly the result
of an afterthought. Its inner arrangement, with four columns
around the central square opening that connects the two rather
heterogeneous stories, must, however, have been part of the
original design.

While both of the chapels attached to the imperial palace
have been linked to Aachen, partly because of their resem-
blance to Hereford where there seemed to exist a written proof
of this connection, evidence from Goslar itself precludes any
interpretation of the two chapels as copies of Aachen, since
a third chapel, i.e., the collegiate church of St. George on the
nearby Georgenberg, clearly imitates the octagonal prototype

FIGURE 5. Goslar, palatine complex, St. Ulric’s Chapel, exterior (photo:
Niedersdichsisches Landesverwaltungsamt, Institut fiir Denkmalpflege, by
permission).

FIGURE 6. Goslar, palatine complex, St. Ulric’s Chapel, interior (photo:
Niedersdchsisches Landesverwaltungsamt, Institut fiir Denkmalpflege, by
permission).
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FIGURE 7. Goslar, Georgenberg, foundations of St. George’s Chapel (photo:
Niedersdchsisches Landesverwaltungsamt, Institut fiir Denkmalpflege, by
permission).

by repeating all of its major elements (Fig. 7). Here we find
two western turrets enclosing a monumental niche in front
of the portal and angular piers defining the central space. Of
the three chapels at Goslar it is only this third one of which
literary evidence from the late middle ages stresses the re-
semblance to Aachen.?® It is not in the least plausible to posit
that three contemporary buildings in the same location—one
square, a second cruciform and a third octagonal—all fol-
lowed the same prototype and yet, at the same time, resem-
bled each other not at all. It seems more likely that the two
chapels connected to the imperial palace, those of Our Lady
and St. Ulric, may have been intended to recall other proto-
types of at least equal significance.

By the twelfth century, the double-storied chapel type
as realized at Hereford and Goslar represented an already
well established tradition within the German Empire, reach-
ing back into the eleventh century and ranging from specific
and often imitated episcopal chapels attached to cathedrals
and chapels of imperial residences, to chapels in the castles
of the feudal nobility. All of these chapels resemble each
other in their main features: they consist of two stories over
a square groundplan; both stories are subdivided into nine
bays by the insertion of four supports, usually columns; and
both levels are spatially interconnected by an opening, usu-
ally octagonal, within the vault of the central bay. This
model was in continuous use for more than two centuries
until it was finally replaced around 1250 by the longitudinal
Gothic chapel type following the recently constructed Sainte-
Chapelle in Paris, even though this monument is sometimes
included in the seemingly long lasting tradition of double-
storied chapels established with Aachen and reaching down
even to Versailles.*

The earliest of this group of chapels which has survived
is St. Emmeram’s chapel at Speyer Cathedral (Figs. 8 and 9),
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FIGURE 8. Speyer Cathedral, St. Emmeram’s Chapel, groundplan (Ginette
Gauvin and Hans J. Béker).

FIGURE 9. Speyer Cathedral, St. Emmeram’s Chapel, interior (photo: Land-
esamt fiir Denkmalpflege Rheinland-Pfalz, by permission).

built around 1100 under Emperor Henry IV, followed shortly
afterwards by St. Godehard’s chapel at Mainz Cathedral.*!
Both are double-storied buildings over square groundplans
with four columns surrounding the central opening. A similar
chapel, dedicated to St. Stephen, existed until 1806 at Trier
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FIGURE 10. Cologne Cathedral, Bishop’s Chapel, St. Johannis in curia,
groundplan (Ginette Gauvin and Hans J. Boker).

Cathedral.*? Outside the German Empire, Laon still has in its
episcopal palace a double-storied chapel of the same type,
constructed during the early reign of Bishop Gauthier de Mon-
tagne (1155-1174);*3 while the lower space follows the hall
church type, the upper chapel has four free-standing columns
that support slightly pointed barrel vaults and a domed cen-
tral bay. As at Hereford, it is interesting to note the stylistic
discrepancy between this rather “Romanesque,” even “Byz-
antine” looking chapel* and the “modernity” of the presti-
gious cathedral project begun at the same time by the same
patron.

The prototype of this group seems to have been the
archiepiscopal chapel of St. Johannis in Curia revealed by
excavations south of Cologne Cathedral and originally con-
nected to the adjoining archbishop’s palace (Fig. 10). This
building, dating from the reign of Archbishop Heribert (999—
1021), had a square groundplan with a projecting eastern
apse, while secondary apses remained within the thickness of
the eastern wall.*> The most distinguishing feature of the
interior was, again, a central square formed by four columns
and continued into a lantern. In this respect the chapel served
as a prototype for a large number of imperial as well as epis-
copal palatine chapels, all of which follow Cologne in their
main architectural elements. Contemporary with the chapel at
Cologne, another of the same type was added before 1015
by Bishop Meinwerk to the southern transept of Paderborn
Cathedral (Fig. 11).46

Since for none of these chapels within the Rhenish group
of monuments is any reference made in medieval sources to
the Palatine Chapel at Aachen, and since the identification of
Aachen as a prototype for the chapel at Hereford is dubious,
it is necessary to reconsider the question of which building
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FIGURE 11. Paderborn Cathedral, Bishop’s Chapel, groundplan (Ginette
Gauvin and Hans J. Boker).

the chapel at Hereford was intended to recall. That the chapel
under consideration was designed to make a symbolic state-
ment similar to that of the preceding copy of Aachen erected
by Bishop Rutbertus seems obvious. The emulation of a
building type that was closely linked to the politically leading
higher clergy of the Holy Roman Empire was clearly meant
as a means of participating in the political prestige of that
specific group. The question remains unsettled, however, con-
cerning what associations the group of buildings, as a whole,
evoked in the contemporary audience.

If we consider first of all the groundplan and spatial
system of the chapels, we are reminded, as at Hereford, of the
so-called “cross-in-square” type of church familiar in middle
Byzantine architecture. Kautzsch already tried to link the
chapel at Mainz to such a precursor.#’ In these churches a
complicated upper structure with a cruciform arrangement
of spaces and an octagonal tambour is carried by four piers
(or, more often, columns), while both the longitudinal and the
transversal axes are covered by barrel vaults forming, accord-
ing to contemporary interpretation, a symbolic representation
of the universe.*® One of the early buildings of this type at
Constantinople was the Myrelaion (Fig. 12), founded by
Romanos I Lekapenos (922-944) next to his palace and built
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FIGURE 12. Constantinople, Myrelaion, groundplan of upper chapel (Gin-
ette Gauvin and Hans J. Boker).

above a ground story which might have been intended for
burial purposes.*® Even though the upper chapel at Hereford
does not display a distinct cruciform structure, its basic ele-
ments of a barrel vault in the main axis, interrupted by an
octagonal dome over tambour and squinches, would have suf-
ficed to recall a Byzantine model rather than the Palatine
Chapel at Aachen with its different spatial structure. These
elements would have given the building a distinctly Byzan-
tine connotation.

In this context it is interesting to note that the second
building which supposedly follows Aachen, i.e., the chapel
at Germigny-des-Pres,>® consecrated in 806, also resembles
a similar Byzantine prototype. In consequence, Armenian
churches have been named as possible sources of inspiration
for it.>! Even the decidedly iconoclastic mosaic decoration of
its apse, depicting the Ark of the Covenant instead of an
enthroned Christ,> seems to follow contemporary Byzantine
practice. Although no example of this building type has sur-
vived from as early as the ninth century, and although the
reconstruction of the Nea church built by Emperor Basil 1
(867-886) is considered the earliest example known from
literary sources, other evidence indicates that the type must
in fact have existed by this time in Constantinople.>?

The chapels cited as belonging to the same type which
collectively served as models for Hereford have in common
a close connection to the imperial house. While some are at-
tached either to an imperial palace (Goslar) or the imperial
mausoleum (Speyer Cathedral), others were erected by arch-
bishops who served as imperial chancellors (Mainz and Co-
logne) or by bishops who were close relatives of the emperor
(Paderborn). The construction of these chapels must, there-
fore, be seen within the framework of the imperial church
system (Reichskirchensystem) that developed over the elev-
enth century. Although the existence of a complete system
has been the object of a recent dispute, the decisive influence
of some rulers on specific bishoprics under imperial control
remains unquestioned.’* In this system, the emperor had to
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depend heavily on the unrestricted loyalty of the high clergy,
who were usually chosen from the imperial administration,
notably the chancellery. This scheme only appeared to place
the clergy in a position like that of the patriarch of Constan-
tinople, subordinated entirely to the imperial will; in reality
the immense influence of the ecclesiastical advisors in defin-
ing imperial politics should not be underestimated.

For an English bishop like Gilbert Foliot, as exactly
contemporaneously at Laon, the reception of this group of
buildings represented another opportunity to stress a political
connection to the king. Gilbert Foliot’s ecclesiastical career
coincided with the power struggle between King Stephen
(1135-1154) and Henry of Anjou, and the early reign of the
latter as Henry IT (1154-1189). Henry’s power base had been
in the west where Earl Roger of Hereford, a kinsman of
Gilbert Foliot, was a prominent political figure and a sup-
porter of Henry’s claim to the throne. In 1148, Gilbert, pre-
viously prior of Cluny and Abbeville and subsequently abbot
of Gloucester, had been promoted to the bishopric of Here-
ford where he became involved in the task of peace keeping
and in the defence of his own feudal position (even to the
extent of imposing an interdict on Roger’s dominions). After
his accession to the English throne in 1154, Henry II tried to
build on the traditional strength of the Anjou family in the
west of England. Here he could depend on the support of
Bishop Foliot, who used his diplomatic skills during Roger’s
rebellion of 1155 to persuade him to submit to the king and
finally to withdraw as a monk into the Abbey of Gloucester,
where he died the same year.> In recognition of his loyalty,
which he further demonstrated in several of his letters to the
king, Gilbert Foliot was promoted in 1163 to the prestigious
see of London.

When in the following year, in the articles of Clarendon,
Henry II attempted to expand his control over the English
church, Gilbert Foliot was one of his most outspoken sup-
porters. One of the king’s means to reach his goal had been
to introduce his chaplain, Thomas Becket, to the archiepis-
copal see of Canterbury; this, however, failed to produce the
desired effect. In the subsequent controversy Gilbert Foliot,
in his correspondence with Thomas Becket and elsewhere,*
openly took the side of his patron the king, while Becket
in response identified Foliot with the personified antichrist.>’
For his involvement in politics on the side of the king Foliot
even had to allow the city of London to be excommunicated.
Since he died in 1169, he was spared beholding the events
which led to the murder of Thomas Becket in 1174 and the
subsequent period of strife between church and state.

Under the specific circumstances of Henry’s attempt to
seize power between 1149 and 1153, and again after his ac-
cession to the English throne in 1154, the reception of a type
of chapel employed by the high clergy of the Holy Roman
Empire and thus evoking strong associations of a clergy in
royal service, was a means by which Gilbert Foliot could
express publicly his loyalty to the future (or new) king. The
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introduction of this building type during the reign of King
Henry II was the more significant as the king entered into a
close collaboration with the German emperor, Frederick I
Barbarossa. In 1165, the German chancellor Rainald of Das-
sel visited the king at his court at Rouen to discuss a political
alliance, strengthened by the marriage of Henry’s daughter
Eleonora to the emperor’s son. Under Frederick Barbarossa,
who, in the same way as Henry II, was keen to preserve his
rights as a sovereign against the claims of the papal curia at
Rome,’® the same double-storied chapel was erected at the
imperial castle at Nuremberg, clearly indicating the connota-
tion of this chapel type for the contemporary public.

Detached from the cathedral and situated in the imme-
diate vicinity of the palace, the Bishop’s Chapel at Hereford
was intended to be used by the relatively restricted audience
of the episcopal court, the cathedral’s clergy and prominent
visitors from the court of Henry II. Considering the imperial
connotation, both western and Byzantine, of the building type
for any member of the ruling elite of the twelfth century, the
Hereford chapel must have been understood by those admit-
ted to it as a model of a society firmly based on the authority
of the ruler. Since it had associations with both Byzantine
cesaropapism and the German imperial church system, this
model defined, at the same time, the role of the high clergy
in relation to the central power of the kingdom.
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